01a 11-6-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BERTHA PULIDO DE AYALA,
Individually and as Personal
Representative of the ESTATE
OF MAXIMIANO AYALA, Deceased,
and the children of MAXIMIANO
AYALA, Deceased, by their next
friend, BERTHA PULIDO DE AYALA,

CASE NO: 70,308

APPELLATE NO: 85-1588

Petitioners,

vs.

FLORIDA FARM BUREAU CASUALTY
INSURANCE CO. and STEVE'S
HARVESTING, INC.,

Respondents.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 21 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE ORDER OF THE
FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ROGER N. MESSER, ESQ.
RICHARD D. SNEED, JR., ESQ.
Law Offices of
SNEED & MESSER, P.A.
700 Virginia Avenue
Suite 104-Sun Bank Bldg.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

On or about March 9, 1984, MAXIMIANO AYALA, was killed in an accident in the State of Florida while performing duties within the scope of his employment for the Respondent employer, STEVE'S HARVESTING, INC. At the time of the accident and death, STEVE'S HARVESTING, INC. was insured for worker's compensation claims by FLORIDA FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY (hereinafter "FARM BUREAU").

The decedent was survived by his wife, BERTHA PULIDO DE AYALA, four minor sons and two minor daughters. Additionally, the decedent was survived by his son, JOSE AYALA, who was nineteen at the time of his father's death. JOSE AYALA is a natural born United States citizen. The decedent was also survived by his parents who were dependent upon MAXIMIANO AYALA for their support. The wife, minor children and parents of the decedent were all citizens and residents of the Republic of Mexico at the time of the accident. BERTHA PULIDO DE AYALA (hereinafter "MRS. AYALA") is the appointed personal representative of the estate of MAXIMIANO AYALA, deceased, whose estate is presently being administered in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida (R-2).

MAXIMIANO AYALA, a Mexican citizen, had legally lived and worked in the United States for approximately twenty-five years at the time of his death. While MRS. AYALA, the decedent's widow, is a citizen of Mexico and

maintains a residence in Mexico, she also holds a "green card" issued by the United States Department of Immigration and Naturalization, which document allows her to legally live and work in the United States.

Subsequent to MR. AYALA'S death, MRS. AYALA, through her attorney, made demand upon the Respondent, FARM BUREAU, for the maximum death benefit, \$100,000.00, to be paid to her and to the children of the decedent pursuant to Chapter 440, Fla. Stat. (1983), commonly known as the Florida Workers' Compensation Act. Said demand was made by letter dated August 24, 1984 (R-6-7).

By letter dated August 30, 1984, FARM BUREAU tendered the statutory limit of \$1,000.00 by check, to the personal representative of the deceased pursuant to Section 440.16(7), Fla. Stat. (1983) (R-8). This payment was never accepted by MRS. AYALA.

The instant litigation was commenced on or about December 12, 1984, when the Petitioner filed her Complaint for Declaratory Relief in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida. (R-1-8). Said Complaint alleged that Section 440.16(7) was invalid and unenforceable both on its face and as applied to the Petitioner as violative of the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Florida. Further, said Complaint alleged that Section 440.16(7), Fla. Stat. arbitrarily and unreasonably

discriminated against resident aliens injured in a job related accident that resulted in their death when their dependents were not residents of the State of Florida. The Complaint further alleged that the statute in question discriminated against resident aliens since it denied them insurance benefits during their lifetime which would otherwise be available to them. (R-4)

The Respondents, Defendants in the Trial Court below, timely filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint, alleging that the Petitioner, Plaintiff below, failed to exhaust all of her administrative remedies for the reason that the instant action was within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Deputy Commissioners of the Department of Labor and Employment Security and that the Circuit Court was without jurisdiction to entertain the subject matter contained in the Complaint (R-9-10). Said Motion to Dismiss came on for hearing before the Honorable Phillip G. Nourse, Circuit Court Judge of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, on February 13, 1985. A transcript of said hearing is contained in the Record on Appeal. (R-Court Reporters 1-21).

At the hearing, Judge Nourse required MRS. AYALA to file a brief in support of her position within twenty days and further required FARM BUREAU and STEVE'S HARVESTING, INC. to file their Answer Brief twenty days thereafter. The Court stated that the briefs to be submitted should address

two points. First, whether the Court had the authority to hear the issues raised in the Complaint and second, if the Court did have the authority, was the statute in question constitutional (R-Court Reporters 18-21). The Court further required the Respondents to file an Answer to the Complaint before all the briefs were submitted so that the matter would be at issue and the Court could decide on the briefs without the benefit of argument (R-Court Reporters 20). After the February 13, 1985, hearing, the Petitioner filed an Amended Complaint which corrected the style of the original Complaint so as to list the proper aggrieved parties pursuant to Fla. Stat. Section 440.16(1)(b). (R-15-22). Thereafter, the Respondents' Answer was served on April 12, 1985. (R-23-26).

The brief in the Circuit Court of the Petitioner, Plaintiff below, was served on May 8, 1985 (R-27-36) and the brief of FARM BUREAU and STEVE'S HARVESTING, INC., Defendants below, was served on June 3, 1985. (R-37-54). The Petitioner's Reply Brief at the Circuit Court level was served on June 7, 1985, along with a Notice of Trial which requested one-half day, non-jury trial (R-58-63).

The briefs were submitted and Judge Nourse issued his opinion on June 13, 1985, without the benefit of oral argument. The opinion was in the nature of a Final Judgment and held that the Circuit Court had jurisdiction to decide the constitutionality of Section 440.16(7) and further held

that Section 440.16(7) was unconstitutional under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. (R-98-100) (A-37-42). The Petitioner then filed a Motion for Clarification as to whether the statute in question was also unconstitutional under the Constitution of the State of Florida. After a hearing on the Motion for Clarification on July 3, 1985, the Trial Court held that Florida Statute Section 440.16(7), was also unconstitutional under the Florida Constitution and corrected its prior opinion so as to reflect this fact by interlineation on the last page of said opinion (R-100).

The Respondents' Notice of Appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeals was thereafter timely filed on July 2, 1985 (R-104).

The following briefs were timely filed at the Fourth District Court of Appeals level:

1. Appellant's Initial Brief;
2. Appellee's Answer Brief;
3. Appellants' Reply Brief;
4. Amicus Curiae Brief of the United Farm Workers of America, AFL CIO in support of Appellee;
5. Appellants' Answer Brief to the Amicus Curiae Brief of the United Farm Workers of America.
6. Amicus Curiae Brief of the Associated Industries of Florida which essentially adopted the Appellants' brief.

After oral argument, the Fourth District Court of Appeals published its opinion in Florida Farm Bureau v. Ayala, 501 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (A-46-48). The District Court held that the Lower Court Judge was correct in finding that he had jurisdiction to consider the declaratory judgment action. However, it reversed the Lower Court Judge's ruling that Section 440.16(7) Florida Statute (1983) was unconstitutional.

The Petitioner sought to have this Honorable Court take discretionary jurisdiction of this cause and served its jurisdictional brief on April 3, 1987. Respondents served their jurisdictional brief on April 23, 1987. This Honorable Court entered its order accepting jurisdiction and setting oral argument on June 24, 1987.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

MAXIMIANO AYALA was killed on the job in an accident arising out of his employment in March of 1984. At the time of his death, MR. AYALA had been a legal resident of the United States for approximately twenty-five years. He held a "green card" which allowed him to work in the United States.

After his death, MR. AYALA'S wife sought to obtain workers' compensation death benefits from MR. AYALA'S employer and the employer's insurance carrier. MRS. AYALA was prohibited from filing a wrongful death suit against the husband's employer due to the operation of Florida Workers' Compensation Law.

At the time of her husband's death, MRS. AYALA resided in Mexico along with the six minor children of MAXIMIANO AYALA and his two elderly parents who were all dependent upon MR. AYALA for support. Because these nine dependents were all aliens and all resided in Mexico and because they did not reside in Canada or the United States, the carrier denied that it was responsible to pay the full insurance benefit and, instead, pursuant to Florida Statute Section 440.16(7), forwarded a check in the amount of \$1,000.00 to MRS. AYALA. This check was not accepted or cashed by MRS. AYALA.

Florida Statute Section 440.16(7) is an archaic and poorly worded attempt by the legislature to discriminate

between Canadian aliens and aliens from other parts of the world, including Mexico. The statute, as worded, and as applied in this particular case is unconstitutional under both the Florida State Constitution and the Constitution of the United States.

With regard to the Florida Constitution, the "access to courts" guaranty contained in Article I, Section 21 of the State Constitution is clearly violated since the workers' compensation statute removes the right to bring a wrongful death suit against the employer while providing essentially nothing in return for the loss of that right.

Florida Statute Section 440.16(7) further violates Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution since the net result of the statute is deprivation of a property right held by MRS. AYALA as personal representative of the estate and on behalf of the dependents of MAXIMIANO AYALA without due process of law.

Perhaps the clearest example of violation of the Florida Constitution comes when one considers Article I, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution in light of the facts in this case. Article I, Section 2 states:

All natural persons (emphasis added) are equal before the law and have inalienable rights among which are the right to enjoy and defend life and liberty, to pursue happiness, to be rewarded for industry, and to acquire, possess and protect property; except at the ownership, inheritance, disposition and possession of real property (emphasis added) by aliens ineligible for citizenship may be regulated or prohibited by law. No person shall be deprived of any right because of race

or religion.

It takes an extremely labored construction of this section of Florida's Constitution to determine that "all natural persons" do not include the widow and minor children of MAXIMIANO AYALA, deceased.

With regard to federal constitutionality, the statute in question is unconstitutional under the due process and equal protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution. While there may not be a constitutional right to workers' compensation death benefits, once the state has conferred these benefits, they must be distributed in accordance with the equal protection and due process clauses of the Constitution. Florida Statute Section 440.16(7) attempts to discriminate between different classes of aliens without a showing of a rational basis for the discrimination.

This Court should reverse the District Court of Appeal and affirm the Trial Court's ruling in striking down this unfair, archaic and unconstitutional section of the Florida Statutes.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 440.16(7) IS CONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

BERTHA PULIDO DE AYALA sought to have Florida Statute Section 440.16(7)(1983) declared unconstitutional both on its face and as applied on the basis that it violates both the Federal and State Constitutions. The Statute in question provides:

Compensation under this chapter to aliens not residents (or about to become nonresidents) of the United States or Canada shall be the same in amount as provided for residents, except that dependents in any foreign country shall be limited to surviving spouse and child or children, or if there be no surviving spouse or child or children, to surviving father or mother whom the employee has supported, either wholly or in part, for the period of 1 year prior to the date of the injury, and except that the deputy commissioner may, at the deputy commissioner's option, or upon the application of the insurance carrier, commute all future installments of compensation to be paid to such aliens by paying or causing to be paid to them one-half of the commuted amount of such future installments of compensation as determined by the deputy commissioner, and provided further that compensation to dependents referred to in this subsection shall in no case exceed \$1,000.

The Circuit Court Judge ruled that the Statute was unconstitutional on both state constitutional grounds and federal constitutional grounds. With regard to the state constitutional question, the Petitioner alleges that Florida Statute Section 440.16(7)(1983) is violative of three articles of the Florida Constitution:

A. Article I, Section 21, the so-called "access to courts" provision;

B. Article I, Section 2, the equal protection clause of the Florida Constitution;

C. Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution, the due process clause of the Florida Constitution.

Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution states that

The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

This provision of the Florida Constitution has been in effect in the State Constitution since 1885. The Florida Supreme Court in Holland, for Use and Benefit of Williams v. Mayes, 155 Fla. 129, 19 So.2d 709 (1944), stated that the purpose of Article I, Section 21 "was to give vitality to the maximum that for every wrong there is a remedy."

Clearly, on its face, Fla. Stat. Section 440.16(7) is violative of this clause of the State Constitution since it removes any remedy which the Petitioner has under the workers' compensation statute at the same time denying the Petitioner access to the Courts and redress against the employer in a wrongful death action.

In Chapman v. Dillon, 415 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1982), the Florida Supreme Court indicated that the No-Fault Insurance Law did not violate the "access to courts" clause of the Florida Constitution because there was created a reasonable alternative to a tort action since "the injured party is

assured a recovery of his major and salient economic losses from his own insurer." The right to sue for redress of grievances is a fundamental right. The Workers' Compensation statute has taken away the common law right to file tort actions against employers or to file wrongful death actions as recognized under the law of the State of Florida. In this specific case it has given nothing in return for the loss of those rights.

There is in fact no recovery of the major and salient economic losses of the injured party. The \$1,000.00 limitation of benefits called for in Fla. Stat. Section 440.16(7), together with the \$2,500.00 funeral benefit will not pay the approximate \$5,000.00 cost of the preparation of the body in the United States, shipment of the body to Mexico and its burial in Mexico. The sum provided by the statute, in effect, provides nothing to compensate the widow and six minor children for the loss of support and services from the family bread winner.

This Honorable Court in Smith v. Department of Insurance, 12 F.L.W. 189 (Fla. 1987), Rev. at 12 F.L.W. 277 (1987), ____ So. 2d ____ (Fla. 1987), indicated that a \$450,000.00 cap on noneconomic damages was violative of Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution. The Court in Smith, supra, discussed at length the seminal case of Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). The holding in

Kluger was as follows:

Where a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law predating the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of the State pursuant to Fla. Stat. Section 2.01, F.S.A., the Legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for injuries, unless the Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown.

The Court in Smith, supra, indicated that there was no relevant distinction between the issue in Kluger and the issue in Smith.

In Kluger, the legislature attempted to unconstitutionally restrict the right of redress at the bottom of the damages spectrum; here, it attempts to restrict the top of the spectrum. Neither restriction is permissible unless one of the Kluger exceptions is met; i.e., (1) providing a reasonable alternative remedy or commensurate benefit, or (2) legislative showing of overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of the right and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity.

The constitutional right to access to courts contained in Article 1, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution "has no counterpart in the Federal Constitution and derives its scope and meaning solely from Florida case law." Overland Construction Company, Inc. v. Sirmons, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979). The Supreme Court in Overland indicated that the common law rights of action protected by the access to courts provision are not only those in place as of July 4, 1776, as F.S.A. Section 2.01 literally provides, but have

been held to be "designed for application to new conditions and circumstances." See also State ex rel. Burr v. Jacksonville Terminal Company, 90 Fla. 721, 106 So. 576 (Fla. 1925).

The Court in Overland, supra, was dealing with a cause of action which was not recognized by statute until 1975. However, a statutory right to bring a wrongful death action has long been recognized in the State of Florida. See e.g. Benoit v. Miami Beach Electric Co., 85 Fla. 396, 96 So. 158 (1923).

In the wrongful death contexts now covered by Florida Workers' Compensation statute with regard to Canadian citizens and United States citizens, the right to the tort action for wrongful death has been replaced by a reasonable alternative and thus passes the Kluger, supra, test. However, with regard to the rights of an alien from any country except Canada, Florida Statute Section 440.16(7) is, on its face, violative of the access to courts clause of the State Constitution since it removes any remedy which such a person has under the Workers' Compensation Statute, while at the same time denying the access to the courts for redress against the employer.

Florida Statute Section 440.16(7) is violative of Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution which states that:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law...

This clause has been a part of the Florida Constitution since 1885. The State Supreme Court in L. Maxcy, Inc. v. Mayo, 103 Fla. 552, 139 So. 121 (1932) indicated that legislative acts must accord with the guaranty that no man shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.

It has also been held in Tomayco v. Thomas, 143 So.2d 227 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1962) that the constitutional guaranty of due process under the State Constitution extends to every type of legal proceeding. This would, of necessity, include workers' compensation proceedings. It is clear that Florida Statue Section 440.16(7) deprives the Appellee and all others in her class of due process of law for recovery of her property rights.

Perhaps one of the strongest arguments against the constitutionality of the subject statute is Article I, Section 2 of the Florida constitution which states:

All natural persons (emphasis added) are equal before the law and have inalienable rights among which are the right to enjoy and defend life and liberty, to pursue happiness, to be rewarded for industry, and to acquire, possess and protect property; except that the ownership, inheritance, disposition and possession of real property (emphasis added) by aliens ineligible for citizenship may be regulated or prohibited by law. No person shall be deprived of any right because of race or religion.

This provision of the Florida Constitution has been held to be mandatory. The State Supreme Court in Crawford v. Gilchrist, 64 Fla. 41, 59 So. 963 (1925), stated that

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