016 11-6-07

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,308 DCA-4 CASE NO. 85-1588

BERTHA PULIDO DE AYALA, Individually and as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF MAXIMIANO AYALA, Deceased, and the children of MAXIMIANO AYALA, Deceased, by their next friend, BERTHA PULIDO DE AYALA,

Petitioners,

vs.

FLORIDA FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE CO. and STEVE'S HARVESTING, INC.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 440.16(7) <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1983) was held by the trial court to be unconstitutional under the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of both the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the state of Florida.

The trial court did not find that said section violated Article I, Section 21 known as the "access to courts" provision of the Florida Constitution and it should not therefore be considered by this Court. However, Respondents contend that in any event, said statutory section does not violate Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution.

First, the statute in question provided for a death benefit to nonresident alien dependents other than Canadians and United States citizens in the amount of \$1,000. Respondents contend that both the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the state of Florida are territorial in their application and only apply to those residents, whether aliens or citizens, within the territorial boundaries of the United States or of the state of Johnson v. Eisentrager, 339 U.S. 763 (1950). Florida. Accordingly, because nonresident aliens are not entitled to the protection of either the United States or the Florida Constitutions, it is permissible to discriminate against said nonresident aliens.

Further, there is no deprivation of Due Process because a nonresident alien dependent's right to compensation is a statutory privilege and not a protected property right.

-3-

Therefore, the Florida Legislature is under no constitutional obligation to provide any death benefits whatsoever to nonresident alien dependents. Because there is no constitutional obligation to provide any death benefits to nonresident alien dependents, it matters not whether they are given a statutory gratuity of one dollar or one thousand dollars.

Assuming arguendo that the Equal Protection Clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions apply to the Petitioners, the statute in question would not violate Because the Petitioners are constitutional quarantees. nonresident alien dependents, not subject to our laws, not dependent upon our institutions and peoples, and not likely to become public charges or wards within the United States, a rational basis test as opposed to a strict scrutiny test appropriate standard for review. Jalifi v. is the Industrial Commission of Arizona, 132 Ariz. 233, 644 P.2d 1319 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1982), appeal dism'd, 459 U.S. 899 (1982).

The above are legitimate reasons for the Legislature to discriminate against nonresident alien dependents who share none of the duties and burdens which resident aliens have in common with citizens of the United States. Further, the burden to prove that a statute does not rest on any reasonable basis or that it is as arbitrary is on the challenger. Petitioners herein have not met said burden and

-4-

have offered no evidence in this proceeding to support such a challenge.

Lastly, Petitioners contend that the statute in question violates Florida's access to courts clause contained within Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution. As stated above no provision of the Florida Constitution has application to nonresident alien dependents outside the territorial boundaries of the state of Florida.

Assuming arguendo that Article I, Section 21 did apply, there has been no showing that a reduced death benefit in the amount of \$1,000 is unreasonable given the Petitioners nonresident alien status as residents of the Republic of Mexico.

Additionally, the Petitioners' right to bring a wrongful death action has not been totally abolished and the Legislature is therefore not required to provide a reasonable alternative pursuant to the test set forth by this Court in <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). The death benefits provided to workers' dependents by statute supplement the Florida Wrongful Death Act during the period of the employer/employee relationship. A wrongful death action is still available against third party tort-feasors and is still available against the employer if the employee is not killed while in the course and scope of his employment.

Paragraph 5 of the Petitioners' Amended Complaint below specifically alleges that the death of MAXIMIANO AYALA was

-5-

caused by the negligence of a third party tort-feasor, to wit: Joseph Franklin Bradley, an employee of Larson Dairy, Inc. (A. 2). Therefore, the Petitioners <u>may still sue</u> said third party tort-feasor. The Petitioners' right to bring an action against either Joseph Franklin Bradley or Larson Dairy, Inc., has never been abolished.

For all of the reasons set forth above and as further set forth in this Brief, Respondents urge this Court to uphold the constitutionality of Section 440.16(7) <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1983) as applied to the Petitioners herein.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 440.16(7) FLA. STAT. (1983) DOES NOT VIOLATE THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF EITHER THE UNITED STATES OR FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS.

Section 440.16(7) Fla. Stat. (1983) provided:

Compensation under this Chapter to aliens not residents (or about to become nonresidents) of the United States or Canada shall be the same in amount as provided for residents, except that dependents in any foreign country shall be limited to surviving spouse and child or children, or if there be no surviving spouse or child or children, the surviving mother or father whom the employee has supported, either wholly or in part, for the period of 1 year prior to the date of the injury, and except that theDeputy Commissioner may, at the Deputy Commissioner's option, or upon the application of the insurance carrier, to commute all further installments of compensation to be paid to such aliens by paying or causing to be paid to them one-half of the commuted amount of such further installments of compensation as determined by the Deputy Commissioner and provided further that compensation to dependents referred to in this sub-section shall in no case exceed \$1,000.00. (emphasis added) 1

The so-called Equal Protection Clause of the Florida Constitution is contained within Article I, Section 2 and provides:

> All natural persons are equal before the law and had inalienable rights, among which are the rights to enjoy and defend life and liberty, to pursue happiness, to be rewarded

¹Effective July 1, 1987, Section 440.16(7) has been amended to provide a \$50,000 cap on death benefits to nonresident alien dependents other than Canadians in place of the \$1,000 cap contained in the 1983 version. <u>See</u>, Chapter 87-330, <u>Laws of Fla.</u> (1987).

for industry, and to acquire, possess and protect property; except that the ownership, inheritance, disposition and possession of real property by aliens ineligible for citizenship may be regulated or prohibited by law. No person shall be deprived of any right because of race, religion or physical handicap.

Similarly, the so-called Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution is contained within the Fourteenth Amendment and provides in relevant part:

> Section One. All persons born or naturalized in the United States and subject to the jurisdiction thereof are citizens of the United States and of the state wherein they reside. No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Petitioners contend that the Legislature discriminated unjustly and without cause against employees from Mexico as opposed to employees from Canada, but offer no factual support for this assertion.

Initially, Respondents would point out that the statutory section in question applies only to <u>nonresident alien</u> <u>dependents</u>. This factual distinction is of great importance in determining the constitutionality of the statute.

Nonresident alien dependents have been made the subject of special statutory rules in all but nine states. <u>See</u>, <u>generally</u>, Larson, <u>Law of Workmen's Compensation</u>, § 63.51 (1987). Five states expressly include nonresident aliens on equal terms with other dependents; five states exclude them from benefits altogether. Most of the rest provide for reduced benefits or the commutation of benefits to a lump sum on a reduced basis, and many restrict the classes of benefi-Residents of Canada are usually ciaries. Id. at § 63.51 P. 11-183, 11-184 accepted. (emphasis added)

Professor Larson goes on to state that most of the special rules discriminating against nonresident alien dependents are the result of the awkward problem of proof and continuing administration in foreign countries that is unavoidably present in many of those cases. Such difficulties include remanding the case back to the country of residence of the nonresident dependent for findings of fact. <u>See, e.g. Catelli v. Bayonne Associates, Inc.</u>, 3 N.J. Super 122, 65 A.2d 617 (1949) and 99 C.J.S. <u>Workmen's Compen-</u> sation, § 132 (1958).

> A. Section 440.16(7) Fla. Stat. (1983) Is Patterned After The United States Longshoremen And Harbor Workers' Compensation Act, 33 U.S.C § 909(g) (1978).

The United States Longshoremen and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act, 33 U.S.C. § 909(g) (1978) provides:

> Aliens: Compensation under this chapter to aliens, not residents (or about to become nonresidents) of the <u>United States or Canada</u> shall be the same in amount as provided for residents, except that dependents in any foreign country shall be limited to surviving wife and child or children, or if there be no surviving wife or child or children, to the surviving father or mother who the employee has supported either wholly or in part for the period of one year prior to the date of the injury and accept that the Secretary may, at his option, whereupon the application of the insurance carrier shall, commute all

> > -9-

future installments of compensation to be paid to such aliens by paying or causing to be paid to them one-half of the commuted amount of such future installments of compensation as determined by the Secretary. (emphasis added)

It is noteworthy that the section in question, Section 440.16(7) is virtually identical to the federal version, but for the \$1,000.00 cap in Florida.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal below determined that the right to compensation is not a fundamental right under either the Florida or United States Constitution but is rather a statutory privilege. <u>See</u>, <u>Florida Farm Bureau</u> <u>Casualty Insurance Co. v. Ayala</u>, 501 So.2d 1346, 1348 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, <u>Travelers Insurance Co. v. Sitko</u>, 496 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (Workers' Compensation is purely a creature of statute).

The Congress of the United States had good reason to treat citizens of Canada differently from citizens of other countries with respect to workers' compensation benefits when it enacted 33 U.C.S § 909(g) on March 4, 1927, by Chapter 509 § 9, 44 <u>Stat.</u> 1429. A review of the history of Chapter 33 U.S.C. § 909(g) indicates that witnesses at the Legislative hearings discussed the problems of dealing with mixed crews, i.e., U.S. and Canadian ships in the Great Lakes. The discussion evidently centered on the fact that Canadian and United States seamen serving on those ships should receive the same benefits.

Both 33 U.S.C. § 909(g) and § 440.16(7) Fla. Stat. (1983) make an exception for Canadian citizens. Clearly

-10-

this is not an unreasonable distinction given the fact that the United States and Canada share one of the largest unprotected borders in the entire world. Additionally, when one considers the many treaties that the United States has had over the years with Canada and presently has, this distinction is not only easily understood but well founded as well.²

Further, although the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal below is the first determining the constitutionality of Section 440.16(7), the corresponding section of the federal act has apparently withstood such a challenge.

In <u>Calloway v. Hanson</u>, 295 F.Supp. 1182 (Haw.D. 1969), the appellant, Mrs. Calloway was a resident of San Salvador, El Salvador, Central America, and was the widow of Van Calloway who was killed on October 5, 1966. She filed proceedings to obtain compensation benefits under the Defense Base Act contained in 42 U.S.C.A. § 1652(b) which provided in relevant part that:

² The following is a small and partial list of past and present treaties between the United States and Canada:

Boundary and Waters Treaty of 1909, 36 Stat. 244, 8, between Canada and the United States; Extradition Treaty With Canada, 27 U.S.T. 985, T.I.A.S. 8237 (1974); Tax Treaty With Canada, 36 Stat. 1399 (1942); Tax Treaty With Canada, 59 Stat. 915 (1944); Webster-Ashburton Treaty, 8 Stat. 572 T.S. No. 119 signed by Great Britain and the United States in 1842 and incorporated into subsequent conventions with Britain and Canada; Treaty on Extradition, December 3, 1971, United States and Canada, 27 U.S.T. 983, T.I.A.E. 8237; Treaty Between United States and Canada For The Preservation of The Halibut Fishery of the Northern Pacific Ocean and Bearing Sea, March 2, 1953; Treaty Between United States and Canada known as the "Great Lakes Agreement", February 21, 1952, 3 U.S.T. 4926, T.I.A.S. 2666; (continued on page 12)

. . for death under this Compensation. chapter to aliens and non-nationals of the United States not residents of the United States or Canada shall be in the same amount as provided for residents except that dependents in any foreign country shall be limited surviving wife and child or children, or if there be no surviving wife and child or children, to surviving father or mother whom the employee has supported either wholly or part in the period of one year (1) in immediately prior to the date of the injury, and accept that the Secretary of Labor may, at his option, or upon the application of the insurance carrier, shall, commute all future installments of compensation to be paid to such aliens or non-nationals of the United States by paying or causing to be paid to them one-half of the commuted amount of such future installments of compensation as determined by the Secretary (emphasis added).

In <u>Calloway</u>, the widow's benefits had been commuted because she was a nonresident alien dependent just like BERTHA PULIDO DE AYALA in the case at bar. Mrs. Calloway contended that Congress intended the dependents of the United States citizens to receive full benefits regardless of their nationality.

²(con't) Treaty Between United States and Canada Concerning Uses of the Water of Niagra River, February 27, 1950, 1 U.S.T. 694; Treaty on the Protection of Migratory Birds Concluded Between the United States and Great Britain on Behalf of Canada on August 16, 1916, 39 Stat. 1702, T.I.A.S. No. 628; Treaty Between United States and Canada Defining Certain Waters on the West Coast of North America as Sheltered Waters, dated December 9, 1933; Boundary Water Treaty Between the United States and Canada of 1909, 36 Stat. 2448; United States and Canadian Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement of April 15, 1972, United States Treaties and Other International Agreements Vol. 23, Part 1, 1972; Treaty on Income Tax Convention and Protocol Between Canada and United States, August 18, 1937, 50 Stat. 1399, T.S. No. 920; Treaty on Double Taxation Between United States and Canada, November 21, 1951, 2 U.S.T. 2235, T.I.A.S. No. 2347.

In upholding the Department of Labor, the United States District Court for the District of Hawaii held that compensation payable by reason of death to dependents and the phrase "to be paid to such aliens" as used in the statute referred to the status of the payee rather than to the status of the employee.

> It is probably significant to hold that the language used in 42 U.S.C.A. § 1652(b), supra, was not new in the language, but will be found almost verbatim in the Longshoremen and Harbor Workers' Compensation Act, 33 U.S.C.A. § 909(g) first enacted March 4, 1927. 295 F.Supp. at 1184.

Likewise, in the case at bar, it is the status of the payee rather than the status of the employee which determines the amount of the benefits to be received. As in <u>Calloway</u>, the payees in the instant case are nonresident aliens who are entitled to a lesser benefit than resident aliens.

The <u>Calloway</u> court went on to hold that the Secretary of Labor's decision in discriminating against a nonresident alien dependent would be upheld because:

> The principals of law abided by the Deputy Commissioner are not forbidden by law, are not without any reasonable legal basis, and are not invalidated by any formal principal of law. Id. (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

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